QE.S.62.01. SOMALI INTERNET COMPANY
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

The Somali Internet Company was listed on 9 November 2001 pursuant to paragraph 8 (c) resolution 1333 (2000) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban as an “undertaking or entity owned or controlled, directly or indirectly, by” Ali Ahmed Nur Jim’ale (QI.J.41.01) and/or the Barakaat Group of Companies (QE.B.37.01).

Additional information
The Somali Internet Company was jointly owned by three Somali companies, which included the Barakaat Group of Companies (QE.B.37.01). 

The Barakaat network of companies operated, as of 2001, in 40 countries around the world with business ventures in telecommunications, construction, wire transfer services and currency exchange. Its operations were centered in the United Arab Emirates (UAE) and Somalia. Barakaat was founded in 1989 by Ali Ahmed Nur Jim’ale. Jim’ale was closely linked with Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01). Bin Laden provided Jim’ale with one million United States dollars in ‘venture capital’ in 1992, and has acted as a ‘silent partner’ in Barakaat. Bin Laden also invested in Barakaat’s telecommunications network.

Bin Laden found Barakaat an efficient and discreet way to transfer money. Barakaat acted as a source of funding and money transfers for Bin Laden, with its owner channeling several million United States dollars a year to and from Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). In addition, Barakaat has managed, invested, and distributed funds for Al-Qaida. Most of Bin Laden’s transactions were between Mogadishu, Somalia, and Dubai, the United Arab Emirates, Mombassa, Kenya and Nairobi, Kenya. These funds generally were intermingled with transfers made on behalf of non-governmental organizations such as Al-Haramain (various offices are listed on the Al-Qaida Sanctions List) and the International Islamic Relief Organization (two offices are listed on the Consolidated List).

Barakaat also arranged for the shipment of weapons to terrorist supporters. As a further sign of Jim’ale’s good relations with Bin Laden, Barakaat provided employment within its ‘security’ division for almost 1,000 fighters. Bin Laden footed the bill for the care and feeding of these persons and could call upon their services when needed. Bin Laden associates arrived regularly at Mogadishu’s Bale Dogle Airport on chartered aircraft originating in Yemen, Pakistan and Dubai, the United Arab Emirates. Barakaat’s security personnel met these operatives at the airport and conducted them to the compounds of certain non-governmental organizations or to properties owned by a local businessman.

Al-Itihaad al-Islamiya/AIAI (QE.A.2.01) also used Barakaat to finance the destabilization policy of the then so-called Transitional National Government against other peaceful parts of Somalia.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Itihaad al-Islamiya/AIAI (QE.A.2.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Red Sea Barakat Company Limited (QE.R.60.01), listed on 9 November 2001
Al-Haramain Foundation offices (QE.A.71.02, QE.A.72.02, QE.A.103.04, QE.A.104.04, QE.A.105.04, QE.A.106.04, QE.A.109.04, QE.A.110.04, QE.A.111.04, QE.A.112.04, QE.A.113.04, QE.A.114.04, QE.A.116.04, QE.A.117.04), listed between 13 March 2002 and 28 September 2004
International Islamic Relief Organization, Philippines, Branch Offices (QE.I.126.06), listed on 4 August 2006
International Islamic Relief Organization, Indonesia, Branch Office (QE.I.127.06), listed on 9 November 2006

Usama Muhammad Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001

QE.U.68.01. UMMAH TAMEER E-NAU (UTN) 
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

Ummah Tameer e-Nau (UTN) was listed on 24 December 2001 pursuant to paragraph 8 (c) of resolution 1333 (2000) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf, or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Taliban.

Additional information
Ummah Tameer e-Nau (UTN) was founded by Pakistani nuclear scientists with close ties to Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and the Taliban. UTN provided Usama bin Laden and the Taliban with information about chemical, biological and nuclear weapons. UTN’s directors included Mahmood Sultan Bashir-Ud-Din (QI.B.55.01), Majeed Abdul Chaudhry (QI.A.54.01) and Mohammed Tufail (QI.T.56.01). 

Over several visits to Afghanistan, UTN directors and members, including Bashir-Ud-Din, met Usama bin Laden, Mullah Omar, listed as Mohammed Omar (TI.O.4.01 on the 1988 Sanctions List), and other Al-Qaida and Taliban leaders to discuss the development of chemical, biological and nuclear weapons. During a follow-up meeting, an associate of Usama bin Laden indicated he had nuclear material and wanted to know how to use it to make a weapon. Bashir-Ud-Din provided information about the infrastructure needed for a nuclear weapons program and the effects of nuclear weapons.

In November 2001, the Taliban left Kabul and the workers at UTN's Kabul offices fled the area with them. Searches of UTN premises in Kabul yielded documents setting out a plan to kidnap a United States attaché and outlining basic nuclear physics related to nuclear weapons.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001 
Majeed Abdul Chaudhry (QI.A.54.01), listed on 24 December 2001
Mahmood Sultan Bashir-Ud-Din (QI.B.55.01), listed on 24 December 2001
Mohammed Tufail (QI.T.56.01), listed on 24 December 2001 

Related individuals and entities on the 1988 Sanctions List:
Mohammed Omar (TI.O.4.01), listed on 31 January 2001

QE.U.68.01. UMMAH TAMEER E-NAU (UTN) 
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

Ummah Tameer e-Nau (UTN) was listed on 24 December 2001 pursuant to paragraph 8 (c) of resolution 1333 (2000) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf, or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Taliban.

Additional information
Ummah Tameer e-Nau (UTN) was founded by Pakistani nuclear scientists with close ties to Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and the Taliban. UTN provided Usama bin Laden and the Taliban with information about chemical, biological and nuclear weapons. UTN’s directors included Mahmood Sultan Bashir-Ud-Din (QI.B.55.01), Majeed Abdul Chaudhry (QI.A.54.01) and Mohammed Tufail (QI.T.56.01). 

Over several visits to Afghanistan, UTN directors and members, including Bashir-Ud-Din, met Usama bin Laden, Mullah Omar, listed as Mohammed Omar (TI.O.4.01 on the 1988 Sanctions List), and other Al-Qaida and Taliban leaders to discuss the development of chemical, biological and nuclear weapons. During a follow-up meeting, an associate of Usama bin Laden indicated he had nuclear material and wanted to know how to use it to make a weapon. Bashir-Ud-Din provided information about the infrastructure needed for a nuclear weapons program and the effects of nuclear weapons.

In November 2001, the Taliban left Kabul and the workers at UTN's Kabul offices fled the area with them. Searches of UTN premises in Kabul yielded documents setting out a plan to kidnap a United States attaché and outlining basic nuclear physics related to nuclear weapons.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001 
Majeed Abdul Chaudhry (QI.A.54.01), listed on 24 December 2001
Mahmood Sultan Bashir-Ud-Din (QI.B.55.01), listed on 24 December 2001
Mohammed Tufail (QI.T.56.01), listed on 24 December 2001 

Related individuals and entities on the 1988 Sanctions List:
QE.R.70.02. REVIVAL OF ISLAMIC HERITAGE SOCIETY
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

The Revival of Islamic Heritage Society was listed on 11 January 2002 pursuant to paragraph 8 (c) of resolution 1333 (2000) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Taliban.

Additional information
The operations of the Revival of Islamic Heritage Society (RIHS) in Pakistan and Afghanistan have been affiliated with those of the Afghan Support Committee (ASC) (QE.A.69.02), an organization that has funded Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). Abu Bakr al-Jaziri (QI.A.58.02) has served as the finance chief for ASC. The Peshawar, Pakistan, office director of RIHS, Ibrahim Ali Abu Bakr Tantoush (QI.T.57.02), a.k.a. Abd al-Muhsin al-Libi, has served as the ASC manager in Peshawar. Al-Libi has provided Usama bin Laden and his associates with facilities in Peshawar, and has carried money and messages on their behalf. The Pakistan office has diverted funds ostensibly earmarked for supporting orphans to Al-Qaida terrorists. 

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Afghan Support Committee (ASC) (QE.A.69.02), listed on 11 January 2002

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Ibrahim Ali Abu Bakr Tantoush (QI.T.57.02), listed on 11 January 2002
Abu Bakr al-Jaziri (QI.A.58.02), listed on 11 January 2002

QE.E.88.02. EASTERN TURKISTAN ISLAMIC MOVEMENT
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

The Eastern Turkistan Islamic Movement was listed on 11 September 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information
The Eastern Turkistan Islamic Movement (ETIM) is an organization which has used violence to further its aim of setting up an independent so-called “East Turkistan” within China. Since its establishment, ETIM has maintained close ties with the Taliban, Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan (QE.I.10.01). It was founded by Hasan Mahsum from Xinjiang, China, who was killed by Pakistani troops in October 2003. ETIM is currently led by Abdul Haq (QI.H.268.09), who was also a member of Al-Qaida’s Shura Council as of 2005. 

Since January 2007, ETIM has, again, become active under the sanctuary and with the support of the Taliban and Al-Qaida. Its members have increased to about 200 with the recruitment of some non-Chinese to the organization. Its organizational structure has been strengthened, its scale enlarged, its internal administration has become more sophisticated, and the group has developed its weaponry, equipment and operational capacity. 

ETIM is currently active in South Asia, Central Asia and the Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region of China.

In recent years, ETIM has set up bases outside China to train terrorists and has dispatched its members to China to plot and execute terrorist acts including bombing buses, cinemas, department stores, markets and hotels. ETIM has also undertaken assassinations and arson attacks and has carried out terrorist attacks against Chinese targets abroad. Among the violent acts committed by ETIM members were the blowing up of the warehouse of the Urumqi Train Station on 23 May 1998, the armed looting of 247,000 RMB Yuan in Urumqi on 4 February 1999, an explosion in Hetian City, Xinjiang, on 25 March 1999 and violent resistance against arrest in Xinhe County, Xinjiang, on 18 June 1999. These incidents resulted in the deaths of 140 people and injuries to 371. 

By September 2002, the Chinese police forces had confiscated from ETIM members 98 guns of various types, 4500 antitank grenades, and a large amount of knives, explosive devices and raw materials and equipment for making explosives. 

In 2007, ETIM sent its key members into China to establish terrorist training camps and to carry out terrorist training activities. On 5 January 2007, when Chinese authorities made arrests, the group resisted with arms, killing one policeman and injuring another. During this operation, several members of this cell were arrested and a large number of explosives and materials for making explosives were seized.

In 2007, ETIM also started to send its operatives to China to recruit members covertly. In January 2008, Chinese police succeeded in arresting heads and key members of a terrorist cell, discovering several hideouts, and seizing a large number of explosives and materials for making explosives.

At the beginning of March 2008, ETIM sent its operatives to China in an attempt to kidnap foreign reporters, tourists and athletes. This cell covertly collected various materials for making explosives, identified technicians with expertise in making guns and explosives, looked for suicide bombers and attempted to carry out terrorist acts through suicide bombings in Urumqi and other cities inside China. On 26 March 2008, Chinese authorities arrested several cell members and seized a large number of explosives, detonators and other explosive devices.

In early January 2008, Abdul Haq directed ETIM’s military commander to attack cities in China, particularly focusing on the eight cities hosting the 2008 Olympic Games. Under Abdul Haq’s direction, trained terrorists planned to sabotage the Games by conducting terrorist attacks in China shortly before they were due to begin.

After the Beijing Olympics, ETIM continued to send members into China, ostensibly for commercial activities, but in fact to look for opportunities to plan and carry out further terrorist attacks, such as car bombings, suicide bombings and poisoning. The organization trained more than 20 terrorists to execute car bombings in China. 

Since 2008, ETIM has published several terrorist videos on military training, targeting the Beijing Olympics and other events in China. In July and August 2009, ETIM published four videos showing its training activities, with Abdul Haq and other ETIM leaders making speeches inciting Uygurs to launch violent acts against China. 

There is evidence indicating that ETIM members also took steps to plan attacks against the interests of the United States, including the United States Embassy in Bishkek, Kyrgyzstan. On 22 May 2002, two suspected ETIM members were deported to China from Kyrgyzstan on the ground that they were planning terrorist attacks. The Kyrgyz government stated that the two men were planning to target embassies in Bishkek, as well as trade centers and public gathering places. One of them, Mamet Yasyn was found to have conducted surveillance of several embassies and market places.  

ETIM has a close financial relationship with Al-Qaida. The major sources of funding for ETIM activities have come from Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida and from organized crime such as drug trafficking, arms smuggling, kidnapping, extortion and looting. ETIM identifies and recruits criminals and terrorists who have fled China and secretly provides them with terrorist training. 

ETIM has received significant support from Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden and the Taliban and has sent its members to Al-Qaida and Taliban training camps. Upon completion of training, ETIM members have traveled to Afghanistan, Kashmir, Chechnya of the Russian Federation, and China to conduct terrorist and other violent acts. ETIM is also considering using Kyrgyzstan and Kazakhstan as transit routes for the illegal transfer of fighters to China. 

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Islamic Movement of Uzbekistan (QE.I.10.01), listed on 6 October 2001

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Abdul Haq (QI.H.268.09), listed on 15 April 2009 

QE.T.90.02. TUNISIAN COMBATANT GROUP
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

The Tunisian Combatant Group was listed on 10 October 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of” and “recruiting for” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Organization of Al-Qaida in the Islamic Maghreb (QE.T.14.01). 

Additional information
The Tunisian Combatant Group was created in 2000 by Seifallah ben Hassine and Tarek Maaroufi, listed as Tarek ben Habib ben al-Toumi al-Maaroufi (QI.A.74.02), in coordination with Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). Seifallah ben Hassine was imprisoned in Tunisia after being captured in Turkey in 2003 for being a leader of an Al-Qaida-affiliated organization. The strategy of the Tunisian Combatant Group was set during a meeting in Khost, Afghanistan, during which it declared its determination to support Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01).

The Tunisian Combatant Group has organized recruitment of volunteers for training in Al-Qaida-related camps in Afghanistan. Most of the members of this group trained in Afghanistan before returning to Europe.

The Tunisian Combatant Group had links with the two Tunisian attackers that killed Ahmad Shah Massoud, an anti-Taliban leader in Afghanistan, in September 2001. Members of the Tunisian Combatant Group have also given logistical support to Algerians belonging to the Organization of Al-Qaida in the Islamic Maghreb (QE.T.14.01).

The Tunisian Combatant Group is believed to have cells in Europe, in particular in France, Italy, Belgium, Luxembourg, the Netherlands and in the United Kingdom. These European branches have been the target of a series of police operations:

1. Kamel ben Moussa, one of the officials of the Tunisian Combatant Group, was arrested in the United Kingdom on 18 December 2001; 

2. The Italian branch of the Tunisian Combatant Group, headed by Sami ben Khemais Essid, was dismantled in April 2001. It was connected to the so-called Frankfurt group, whose members were arrested in December 2000. This group was intending to launch a terrorist attack in Strasbourg in December 2000; 

3. The Belgian branch of the Tunisian Combatant Group, headed by Tarek al-Maaroufi, has also been dismantled. This branch had organized the travel to Afghanistan of the two murderers of Ahmad Shah Massoud. 

The Tunisian Combatant Group coordinates with a number of other listed entities in the Maghreb, such as the Libyan Islamic Fighting Group (QE.L.11.01), the Moroccan Islamic Combatant Group (QE.M.89.02), and the Organization of Al-Qaida in the Islamic Maghreb.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Libyan Islamic Fighting Group (QE.L.11.01), listed on 6 October 2001
The Organization of Al-Qaida in the Islamic Maghreb (QE.T.14.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Moroccan Islamic Combatant Group (QE.M.89.02), listed 10 October 2002

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Riadh ben Belkassem ben Mohamed al-Jelassi (QI.A.71.02), listed on 3 September 2002

Tarek ben Habib ben al-Toumi al-Maaroufi (QI.A.74.02), listed on 3 September 2002

.91.02. GLOBAL RELIEF FOUNDATION (GRF)
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 September 2010

The Global Relief Foundation (GRF) was listed on 12 October 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01)  and the Taliban. 

Additional information: 

The Global Relief Foundation (GRF), and its officers and directors have had connections to, and have provided support for and assistance to Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Rabih Haddad, a senior GRF official who co-founded GRF and served as its president throughout the 1990s and into 2000, worked for Makhtab al-Khidamat (QE.M.12.01), the precursor organization to Al-Qaida, in Pakistan in the early 1990s.

GRF has provided financial and other assistance to, and received funding from, individuals associated with Al-Qaida. Mohammed Galeb Kalaje Zouaydi, a suspected financier of Al-Qaida’s worldwide terrorist efforts, was arrested in Europe in April 2002. Zouaydi and his partners transferred approximately USD 600,000 to Al-Qaida-related organizations, including GRF. Along with these transfers, Zouaydi transferred over USD 200,000 to GRF’s Belgium Office. GRF admitted receiving funds from Zouaydi.

GRF personnel had multiple contacts with Wadih el-Hage, Bin Laden’s personal secretary, when he was in Sudan. El-Hage was convicted in a United States district court in May 2001 for his role in the 1998 bombings of United States Embassies in Kenya and Tanzania. El-Hage was in contact with GRF while he was active in an Al-Qaida terrorist cell in Kenya.

A GRF employee also dealt with officials of the Taliban. In November 2001, a GRF medical relief coordinator traveled to Kabul, Afghanistan, and had dealings with Taliban officials until the collapse of the Taliban regime.

Related listed individuals and entities
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Makhtab al-Khidamat (QE.M.12.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Al Furqan (QE.A.107.04), listed on 11 May 2004 
Taibah International-Bosnia Offices (QE.T.108.04), 11 May 2004

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001

QE.J.92.02. JEMAAH ISLAMIYAH
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 28 March 2011

Jemaah Islamiyah was listed on 25 October 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of” Al-Qaida  (QE.A.4.01). 

Additional information:
Founded in Malaysia on 1 January 1993 by Abdullah Sungkar and Abu Bakar Ba’asyir (QI.B.217.06), Jemaah Islamiyah (JI) evolved from the long-established Indonesian militant movement, Darul Islam, into an organization with links to Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and strongly influenced by Usama bin Laden’s (QI.B.8.01) ideology and methodology. The threat posed by JI is compounded by its development as a network that stretches over several countries in Southeast Asia. JI’s ultimate aim is the creation of a state based on extremist ideology which stretches across most of Southeast Asia.

Although JI remains an independent organization, making its own operational decisions, active networking by senior JI members has built its links with other terrorist groups, both local and international. JI has a common ideology with Al-Qaida and many members of the two organizations have a shared experience of training or fighting in Pakistan and Afghanistan during the late 1980s and early 1990s.

A key figure linking JI and Al-Qaida was JI’s chief of operations, Nurjaman Riduan Isamuddin (QI.I.87.03), a.k.a. Hambali, who was also a member of Al-Qaida. Hambali fought in Afghanistan in the mid-1980s and was responsible for establishing a network of militant cells across Southeast Asia in the 1990s. He was a close associate of Ramzi Yousef, currently in jail in the United States of America for his involvement in the attack on the World Trade Center on 26 February 1993. Hambali was also closely associated with individuals, including Ramzi Yousef, responsible for planning a coordinated bombing campaign against 12 United States commercial flights from Asia to the West Coast of the United States in January 1995.

Hambali was instrumental in arranging for JI members to receive training in Al-Qaida camps in Afghanistan, and a number of JI members detained in Singapore have admitted attending such camps. Hambali was also linked to the 11 September 2001 terrorist attacks in the United States. He facilitated the visit to Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia, in January 2000 of several Al-Qaida operatives, among whom Khalid al-Midhar and Nawaf al-Hazmi were involved in hijacking and crashing American Airlines Flight 77 into the Pentagon on 11 September 2001.

Another key JI figure with links to Al-Qaida is Fathur Rohman al-Ghozhi (deceased). Al- Ghozhi attended an Al-Qaida training camp in Afghanistan between 1993 and 1994 before establishing a JI cell in the Philippines around 1996. 

In addition to these personal associations between JI and Al-Qaida, other links exist between the two groups. JI surveillance video tapes, including tapes of potential bombing targets in Singapore, were recovered in 2001 from the ruins of the house of Al-Qaida military commander, Mohamed Atef, listed as Sobhi Abdel Aziz Mohamed el Gohary Abu Sinna (deceased), in Afghanistan. An Al-Qaida member was a key operative in the JI-planned bombings uncovered in Singapore in December 2001 and had provided operational assistance and funding to JI. In addition to dispatching JI operatives to Afghanistan for training, the Malaysian JI cell was responsible for establishing several front companies that could be used to channel Al-Qaida funds and procure weapons and bomb-making material.

JI has both the capability and intent to conduct terrorist attacks and has perpetrated such acts in an indiscriminate manner against diplomatic, civilian and military targets across the region:

· JI members planned to bomb the diplomatic missions of Australia, Israel, the United Kingdom and the United States in Singapore as well as other United States and Singapore targets in Singapore. The plot was foiled when the Singaporean authorities arrested 13 members of the group in December 2001. They subsequently arrested another 21 persons, including a number of JI operatives, in August 2002. Singaporean authorities have reported that in retaliation for the December 2001 arrests, JI was planning to crash a plane into Changi International Airport in Singapore. 

· A JI leader and explosives expert, Fathur Rohman al-Ghozhi, admitted to helping plan and finance a series of bombings in the Philippines on 30 December 2000 that killed 22 persons and injured more than 100. He was sentenced to 16 years in prison in the Philippines for possession of explosives and passport offences. 

· JI’s chief of operations, Hambali, is wanted by the Indonesian authorities in connection with a series of coordinated bombings of Indonesian churches in Jakarta and eight other cities on 24 December 2000 that killed 18 persons and injured many others. According to a JI member, Hambali was also involved in the bombing of the residence of the Philippine Ambassador to Indonesia on 1 August 2000. That bombing killed two persons and seriously injured the Ambassador. Another associate of Abu Bakar Ba’asyir, Agus Dwikarna (QI.D.111.03), was sentenced to 17 years in prison in the Philippines for illegal possession of explosives. 

· JI was responsible for bombings in Bali on 12 October 2002, which killed 202 persons. It was also behind the bombing of J.W. Marriot Hotel, Jakarta in 2003 and the bombing of the Australian Embassy in Jakarta in 2004. JI was also responsible for the bombings in Bali in 2005. 

Authorities in Southeast Asia continue to regard JI as a threat and to launch operations against it. These include Malaysia’s arrest of two JI leaders in January 2008, and a succession of security force operations in Indonesia since August 2006. The arrests of associates of JI military leader Abu Dujana in March 2007 resulted in the discovery of significant amounts of explosive materiel, firearms, ammunition and pipe bombs. Further investigation led to the eventual arrest of JI emir Zarkasih and military commander Abu Dujana in June 2007. Nevertheless, JI is likely to have other as yet undiscovered caches of explosive materiel for future use.

While JI regional links likely persist, disruption by State authorities in the region has resulted in JI having to scale down its previous organizational structure from four “Mantiqi” territorial areas of responsibility, previously encompassing parts of Southeast Asia and Australia, to essentially only Mantiqi IIcovering Indonesia. JI has adopted a centralized structure that covers outreach activities, education, logistics and military affairs. 

JI continues to recruit covertly from its network of boarding schools and study groups and through personal contacts. It continues to conduct limited training in Indonesia and the southern Philippines. JI funds its activities through donations from its members, criminal activity and affiliated business activity.

JI has no acknowledged leader but has a well-ordered succession plan, especially in the case of the arrest of the incumbent emir. Following arrests in June 2007, investigations revealed that Zarkasih had assumed the role of emergency JI emir in 2004, following the arrest of Abu Rusdan (QI.R.186.05) who had assumed the position following the arrest of Abu Bakar Ba’asyir. Zarkasih was the JI emir until his arrest in 2007, since which time no new emir has been publicly identified.

JI’s membership is not publicly known and is estimated to be anywhere from less than one thousand to several thousand members, mostly concentrated in Java but also spread throughout the rest of Indonesia, and neighbouring countries.

Since August 2006, JI has not succeeded in conducting any terrorist attacks in Southeast Asia. However, within Indonesia, JI engaged in sectarian terrorist activities such as assassinations and bombings, principally in Poso, Central Sulawesi, until disrupted by Indonesian authorities in January 2007.

Within the Southeast Asia region, JI has continued to maintain active links with sub-groups of the Abu Sayyaf Group (QE.A.1.01) – particularly through JI operatives Dulmatin, listed as Joko Pitono (deceased) and Umar Patek (QI.P.294.11). 

While fugitive in the Philippines, JI operatives have taken the opportunity to facilitate attacks with local terrorist groups against Philippine interests on the island of Mindanao. Multiple bombings with a JI signature were conducted on 10 October 2006 and 10 January 2007.

Despite the cumulative effects of disruption by regional authorities, the information and materiel seized during the arrests of JI leaders since 2006 demonstrate that JI retains the capability and intent to use terrorist violence.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Abu Sayyaf Group (QE.A.1.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Rajah Solaiman Movement (QE.R.128.08), listed on 4 June 2008
Jemmah Anshorut Tauhid (JAT) (QE.J.133.12), listed on 12 March 2012

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Mohamad Iqbal Abdurrahman (QI.A.86.03), listed on 28 January 2003
Nurjaman Riduan Isamuddin (QI.I.87.03), listed on 28 January 2003
Zulkifli Abdul Hir (QI.A.109.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Agus Dwikarna (QI.D.111.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Salim Y Salamuddin Julkipli (QI.J.114.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Abdul Manaf Kasmuri (QI.K.115.03), listed on 9 September 2003 
Amran Mansor (QI.M.116.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Zulkepli bin Marzuki (QI.B.117.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Aris Munandar (QI.M.119.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Abdul Hakim Murad (QI.M.120.03), listed on September 2003
Parlindungan Siregar (QI.S.122.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Yassin Sywal (QI.S.123.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Yazid Sufaat (QI.S.124.03), listed on 9 September 2003 
Wan Min Wan Mat (QI.W.125.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Yunos Umpara Moklis (QI.Y.126.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Zaini Zakaria (QI.Z.127.03), listed on 9 September 2003
Abu Rusdan (QI.R.186.05), listed on 16 May 2005
Zulkarnaen (QI.Z.187.05), listed on 16 May 2005
Abdullah Anshori (QI.A.216.06), listed on 21 April 2006
Abu Bakar Ba'asyir (QI.B.217.06), listed on 21 April 2006
Gun Gun Rusman Gunawan (QI.G.218.06), listed on 21 April 2006 
Taufik Rifki (QI.R.219.06), listed on 21 April 2006
Abd al Hamid Sulaiman Muhammed al-Mujil (QI.A.225.06), listed on 4 August 2006 
Angelo Ramirez Trinidad (QI.T.241.08), listed on 4 June 2008
 Hilarion Del Rosario Santos III (QI.S.244.08), listed on 4 June 2008
Abdul Rahim Ba’asyir (QI.B.293.11), listed on 19 July 2011
Umar Patek (QI.P.294.11), listed on 19 July 2011
Muhammad Jibril Abdul Rahman (QI.A.295.11), listed on 12 August 2011
Mochammad Achwan (QI.A.304.12), listed on 12 March 2012
Abdul Rosyid Ridho Ba’asyir (QI.B.305.12), listed on 12 March 2012 

QE.J.93.02. BENEVOLENCE INTERNATIONAL FOUNDATION
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 19 November 2010

The Benevolence International Foundation was listed on 21 November 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information: 
The Benevolence International Foundation (BIF) was incorporated in Illinois, the United States, on 30 March 1992 as a tax-exempt not-for-profit organization whose stated purpose was to conduct humanitarian relief projects throughout the world. BIF operated as an international organization with several offices, including in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Pakistan, China, and Chechnya and Ingushetia in the Russian Federation. BIF operated as the Benevolence International Fund (QE.B.94.02) in Canada and Bosanska Idealna Futura (QE.B.95.02) in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

The precursor organization to BIF, Lajnar al-Birr al-Islamiah, Arabic for “Islamic Benevolence Committee”, was founded around 1987 by Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), in part to raise funds for fighters in Afghanistan. The organization also provided cover and immigration assistance to fighters traveling in and out of Pakistan.

In the early 1990s, in an effort to attract more donations and deflect scrutiny from the group, Benevolence International Foundation (“Al Bir al Dawalia” in Arabic) was created and incorporated in the United States. Under its new name of Al Bir al Dawalia, the organization engaged in financial transactions on behalf of Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). When BIF’s operations came under government scrutiny in and around 1993, Batterjee resigned as the director and Enaam Arnaout assumed control of the organization.

Arnaout and Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) had a close relationship dating from the mid-1980s and continuing until at least the early 1990s. Arnaout functioned as an administrator for Bin Laden, at times disbursing funds on his behalf. An article published in 1988 on Bin Laden’s activities at the “Al Masada” fighters’ camp in Afghanistan included a photograph of Arnaout and Bin Laden walking together.

In a March 2002 search of BIF’s offices, Bosnia and Herzegovina law enforcement authorities recovered hard drives and CD-ROMs, some of whose contents had been deleted. An examination of the saved data and restoration of the deleted files revealed a host of evidence linking Aranout to Bin Laden and Al-Qaida, including letters between Arnaout and Bin Laden using their aliases. In one handwritten letter, Bin Laden indicated that Arnaout was authorized to sign on Bin Laden’s behalf. A second letter from Bin Laden to Arnaout discussed consulting Sobhi Abdel Aziz Mohamed al Gohary Abu Sinna (deceased), a.k.a. Muhammad Atef, regarding the establishment of a group of fighters. Atef, Bin Laden’s aide, was indicted for his role in the 1998 United States Embassy bombings in East Africa. In a third letter dated 17 June 1991, Bin Laden wrote to Arnaout to discuss an unspecified prior agreement between them.

Bosnia and Herzegovina authorities also discovered an organization chart for a group headed by Bin Laden and involved in military activity; an organization chart placing Arnaout at the head of an organization involved with weapons; and notes summarizing several meetings that witnessed the founding of Al-Qaida in Afghanistan in August 1998 and specifying the text of the original bayat (oath of allegiance) made by prospective Al-Qaida members. Various documents also established that Arnaout, while employed by BIF predecessor Lajnar al-Birr al-Islamiah, worked with others including members of Al-Qaida to purchase rockets, mortars, rifles, and offensive and defensive bombs, and to distribute them to various fighters’ camps, including camps operated by Al-Qaida.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Benevolence International Fund (QE.B.94.02), listed on 21 November 2002
Bosanska Idealna Futura (QE.B.95.02), listed on 21 November 2002

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), listed on 23 December 2004

QE.B.94.02. BENEVOLENCE INTERNATIONAL FUND
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 April 2011

The Benevolence International Fund was listed on 21 November 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information
The Benevolence International Foundation (BIF) (QE.B.93.02) was incorporated in Illinois, the United States, on 30 March 1992 as a tax-exempt not-for-profit organization whose stated purpose was to conduct humanitarian relief projects throughout the world. BIF operated as an international organization with several offices, including in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Pakistan, China, and Chechnya and Ingushetia of the Russian Federation. BIF operated as the Benevolence International Fund in Canada and Bosanska Idealna Futura (QE.B.95.02) in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

The precursor organization to BIF, Lajnar al-Birr al-Islamiah, Arabic for “Islamic Benevolence Committee”, was founded around 1987 by Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), in part to raise funds for fighters in Afghanistan. The organization also provided cover and immigration assistance to fighters traveling in and out of Pakistan.

In the early 1990s, in an effort to attract more donations and deflect scrutiny from the group, BIF (“Al Bir al Dawalia” in Arabic) was created and incorporated in the United States. Under its new name of Al Bir al Dawalia, the organization engaged in financial transactions on behalf of Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). When BIF’s operations came under government scrutiny in and around 1993, Batterjee resigned as the director and Enaam Arnaout assumed control of the organization.

Arnaout and Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) had a close relationship dating from the mid-1980s and continuing until at least the early 1990s. Arnaout functioned as an administrator for Bin Laden, at times disbursing funds on his behalf. An article published in 1988 on Bin Laden’s activities at the “Al Masada” fighters’ camp in Afghanistan included a photograph of Arnaout and Bin Laden walking together.

In a March 2002 search of BIF’s offices, Bosnia and Herzegovina law enforcement authorities recovered hard drives and CD-ROMs, some of whose contents had been deleted. An examination of the saved data and restoration of the deleted files revealed a host of evidence linking Aranout to Bin Laden and Al-Qaida, including letters between Arnaout and Bin Laden using their aliases. In one handwritten letter, Bin Laden indicated that Arnaout was authorized to sign on Bin Laden’s behalf. A second letter from Bin Laden to Arnaout discussed consulting Sobhi Abdel Aziz Mohamed el Gohary Abu Sinna (deceased), a.k.a. Muhammad Atef, regarding the establishment of a group of fighters. Atef, Bin Laden’s aide, was indicted for his role in the 1998 United States Embassy bombings in East Africa. In a third letter dated 17 June 1991, Bin Laden wrote to Arnaout to discuss an unspecified prior agreement between them.

Bosnia and Herzegovina authorities also discovered an organization chart for a group headed by Bin Laden and involved in military activity; an organization chart placing Arnaout atop a organization involved with weapons; and notes summarizing several meetings that witnessed the founding of Al-Qaida in Afghanistan in August 1998 and specifying the text of the original bayat (oath of allegiance) made by prospective Al-Qaida members. Various documents also established that Arnaout, while employed by BIF predecessor Lajnar al-Birr al-Islamiah, worked with others including members of Al-Qaida to purchase rockets, mortars, rifles, and offensive and defensive bombs, and to distribute them to various fighters’ camps, including camps operated by Al-Qaida.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Benevolence International Foundation (QE.B.93.02), listed on 21 November 2002
Bosanka Idealna Futura (QE.B.95.02), listed on 21 November 2002

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), listed on 23 December 200

QE.B.95.02. BOSANSKA IDEALNA FUTURA
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 19 November 2010

Bosanska Idealna Futura was listed on 21 November 2002 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information: 
The Benevolence International Foundation (BIF) (QE.B.93.02) was incorporated in Illinois, the United States, on 30 March 1992 as a tax-exempt not-for-profit organization whose stated purpose was to conduct humanitarian relief projects throughout the world. BIF operated as an international organization with several offices, including in Bosnia and Herzegovina, Pakistan, China, and Chechnya and Ingushetia in the Russian Federation. BIF operated as the Benevolence International Fund (QE.B.94.02) in Canada and Bosanska Idealna Futura in Bosnia and Herzegovina. 

The precursor organization to BIF, Lajnat al-Birr al-Islamiah, Arabic for “Islamic Benevolence Committee”, was founded around 1987 by Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), in part to raise funds for fighters in Afghanistan. The organization also provided cover and immigration assistance to fighters traveling in and out of Pakistan.

In the early 1990s, in an effort to attract more donations and deflect scrutiny from the group, Benevolence International Foundation (“Al Bir al Dawalia” in Arabic) was created and incorporated in the United States. Under its new name of Al Bir al Dawalia, the organization engaged in financial transactions on behalf of Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). When BIF’s operations came under government scrutiny in and around 1993, Batterjee resigned as the director and Enaam Arnaout assumed control of the organization.

Arnaout and Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) had a close relationship dating from the mid-1980s and continuing until at least the early 1990s. Arnaout functioned as an administrator for Bin Laden, at times disbursing funds on his behalf. An article published in 1988 on Bin Laden’s activities at the “Al Masada” fighters’ camp in Afghanistan included a photograph of Arnaout and Bin Laden walking together.

In a March 2002 search of BIF’s offices, Bosnia and Herzegovina law enforcement authorities recovered hard drives and CD-ROMs, some of whose contents had been deleted. An examination of the saved data and restoration of the deleted files revealed a host of evidence linking Aranout to Bin Laden and Al-Qaida, including letters between Arnaout and Bin Laden using their aliases. In one handwritten letter, Bin Laden indicated that Arnaout was authorized to sign on Bin Laden’s behalf. A second letter from Bin Laden to Arnaout discussed consulting Sobhi Abdel Aziz Mohamed al Gohary Abu Sinna (deceased), a.k.a. Muhammad Atef, regarding the establishment of a group of fighters. Atef, Bin Laden’s aide, was indicted for his role in the 1998 United States Embassy bombings in East Africa. In a third letter dated 17 June 1991, Bin Laden wrote to Arnaout to discuss an unspecified prior agreement between them.

Bosnia and Herzegovina authorities also discovered an organization chart for a group headed by Bin Laden and involved in military activity; an organization chart placing Arnaout at the head of an organization involved with weapons; and notes summarizing several meetings that witnessed the founding of Al-Qaida in Afghanistan in August 1998 and specifying the text of the original bayat (oath of allegiance) made by prospective Al-Qaida members. Various documents also established that Arnaout, while employed by BIF predecessor Lajnar al-Birr al-Islamiah, worked with others including members of Al-Qaida to purchase rockets, mortars, rifles, and offensive and defensive bombs, and to distribute them to various fighters’ camps, including camps operated by Al-Qaida.

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Benevolence International Foundation (QE.B.93.02), listed on 21 November 2002
Benevolence International Fund (QE.B.94.02), listed on 21 November 2002

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Adel Abdul Jalil Ibrahim Batterjee (QI.B.182.04), listed on 23 December 2004

QE.L.96.03. LASHKAR I JHANGVI (LJ)
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 October 2011

Lashkar i Jhangvi (LJ) was listed on 3 February 2003 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Taliban. 

Additional information
Lashkar i Jhangvi (LJ) emerged in 1996. It is based primarily in Pakistan’s Punjab region and in the city of Karachi. While LJ initially directed most of its attacks against the Pakistani Shia Muslim community, it claimed responsibility for the 1997 killing of four American oil workers in Karachi, Pakistan. It was responsible for the January 2002 kidnapping and killing of American journalist Daniel Pearl. LJ was also responsible for a March 2002 bus bombing in Karachi that killed 15 people, including 11 French citizens. In July 2002, Pakistani police arrested four LJ members for their role in the bombing of a church in Islamabad in March 2002, which killed two American citizens. The LJ members confessed to the killings. 

LJ has also been involved in attacks on Pakistan Government targets, including an attempt to assassinate then Prime Minister Nawaz Sharif in 1999, two failed assassination attempts against then President Musharraf in 2003, and the failed assassination attempt against former Prime Minister Benazir Bhutto in 2007. It was also believed to have been involved in the attack in Lahore, Pakistan, on the visiting Sri Lankan cricket team in March 2010.

LJ has targeted civilians of all types, including doctors, lawyers, teachers, politicians, lobbyists and scholars; it has also attacked targets on the basis of their Christian or Shia Muslim affiliation, including Iranian nationals in Pakistan, whom it has accused of funding groups in Pakistan that it perceives to be trying to establish Shia dominance.

LJ has ties to Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and the Taliban. In addition to receiving sanctuary from the Taliban in Afghanistan, LJ members have fought alongside Taliban units. Al-Qaida has been involved in training LJ members. 

LJ has received support from Al-Akhtar Trust International (QE.A.121.05).

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Harakat Ul-Mujahidin / HUM (QE.H.8.01) listed on 6 October 2001
Al-Akhtar Trust International (QE.A.121.05), listed on 17 August 2005

Mati ur-Rehman Ali Muhammad (QI.M.296.11), listed on 22 August 2011

QE.A.98.03. ANSAR AL-ISLAM
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 19 November 2010

Ansar al-Islam was listed on 24 February 2003 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of”, “supplying, selling or transferring arms and related materiel to” or “otherwise supporting acts or activities of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01) and Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01).

Additional information: 
Ansar al-Islam, formerly known as Jund al-Islam, is a terrorist group operating in northeastern Iraq with close links to and support from Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01). Al-Qaida and Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) participated in the formation and funding of Ansar al-Islam, and Ansar al-Islam has provided safe haven to Al-Qaida in northeastern Iraq. Ansar al-Islam’s predecessor, Jund al-Islam, was formed in September 2001. Ansar al-Islam came into being with the blessing of Bin Laden after its leaders visited Al-Qaida in Afghanistan in 2000 and 2001. Bin Laden provided Ansar al-Islam with an estimated USD 300,000 to USD 600,000 in seed money. 

Ansar al-Islam has received training and logistical assistance from Al-Qaida. Members of Ansar al-Islam have traveled to Afghanistan to train with the organization, while Ansar al-Islam’s non-Iraqi members are believed to be Al-Qaida trained veterans of conflicts in Afghanistan and Chechnya, the Russian Federation. 

Ansar al-Islam also cooperated closely with senior Al-Qaida operative Ahmad Fadil Nazal al-Khalayleh (deceased), also known as Abu Musab al-Zarqawi, whose network established a poisons and explosives training center in northeastern Iraq controlled by Ansar al-Islam. Zarqawi’s lieutenants helped run this camp, which has taught operatives how to produce ricin and other poisons. 

Ansar al-Islam has conducted attacks in northeastern Iraq. This organization has been located and primarily active in northern Iraq, but also maintained a presence in western and central Iraq. 

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001
Omar Mahmoud Uthman (QI.M.31.01), listed on 17 October 2001
Said ben Abdelhakim ben Omar al-Cherif (QI.A.138.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Imad ben Mekki Zarkaoui (QI.A.139.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Kamal ben Maoeldi ben Hassan al-Hamraoui (QI.A.140.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Maxamed Cabdullaah Ciise (QI.C.141.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Radi Abd el Samie Abou el Yazid el Ayashi (QI.E.142.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Hamadi ben Abdul Aziz ben Ali Bouyehia (QI.B.143.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Mohammad Tahir Hammid (QI.H.144.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Lotfi ben Abdul Hamid ben Ali al-Rihani (QI.A.145.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Mohammed Daki (QI.M.146.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Mohamed Amin Mostafa (QI.M.147.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Nessim ben Mohamed al-Cherif ben Mohamed Saleh al-Saadi (QI.S.148.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Noureddine ben Ali ben Belkassem al-Drissi (QI.A.149.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Al-Azhar ben Khalifa ben Ahmed Rouine (QI.R.150.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Mourad ben Ali ben al-Basheer al-Trabelsi (QI.A.151.03), listed on 12 November 2003
Abd-al-Majid Aziz al-Zindani (QI.A.156.04), listed on 27 February 2004
Faycal Boughanemi (QI.B.188.05), listed on 29 July 2005
Ahmed el Bouhali (QI.E.189.05), listed on 29 July 2005
Abdelkader Laagoub (QI.L.190.05), listed on 29 July 2005
Ata Abdoulaziz Rashid (QI.A.199.05), listed on 6 December 2005
Dieman Abdulkadir Izzat (QI.A.200.05), listed on 6 December 2005
Mazen Salah Mohammed (QI.A.202.05), listed on 6 December 2005 
Farhad Kanabi Ahmad (QI.A.203.05), listed on 6 December 2005 
Rafik Mohamad Yousef (QI.M.205.05), listed on 6 December 2005
Jamal Housni (QI.H.221.06), listed on 2 August 2006
Nessim ben Romdhane Sahraoui (QI.S.222.06), listed on 2 August 2006
Merai Zoghbai (QI.Z.223.06), listed on 2 August 2006
Najmuddin Faraj Ahmad (QI.A.226.06), listed on 7 December 2006 
Jaber Abdallah Jaber Ahmad al-Jalahmah (QI.A.237.08), listed on 16 January 2008
Mubarak Mushakhas Sanad Mubarak al-Bathali (QI.A. 238.08), listed on 16 January 2008

QE.I.99.03. ISLAMIC INTERNATIONAL BRIGADE (IIB)
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 September 2010

The Islamic International Brigade (IIB) was listed on 4 March 2003 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information:
The Islamic International Brigade (IIB) was founded and led by Shamil Salmanovich Basayev (deceased) and is linked to the Riyadus-Salikhin Reconnaissance and Sabotage Battalion of Chechen Martyrs (RSRSBCM) (QE.R.100.03) and the Special Purpose Islamic Regiment (SPIR) (QE.S.101.03). 

On the evening of 23 October 2002, members of IIB, RSRSBCM and SPIR operated jointly to seize over 800 hostages at Moscow’s Podshipnikov Zavod (Dubrovka) Theater. The attackers threatened that unless the Russian Government met their demands they would kill the hostages. They said that they were prepared to kill themselves and the hostages by blowing up the theater. One hundred and twenty-nine hostages died during the rescue mounted by the Government of the Russian Federation.

Basayev, the then leader of both RSRSBCM and IIB, subsequently publicly claimed responsibility for the attack on behalf of RSRSBCM. Basayev’s claim was supported by a videotape broadcast on Al Jazeera during the Dubrovka Theater incident showing one of the perpetrators identifying himself as a member of the “Sabotage and Military Surveillance Group of the Riyadh al-Salikhin Martyrs”, which is an alias for RSRSBCM.

IIB was led by Basayev and the late Saudi national Ibn al-Khattab. Its members include fighters from Chechnya as well as from Arab states.

IIB and SPIR and their leaders are closely linked and have cooperated from the period between the two Chechen wars (1997-1999) until the present. While its existence was unknown prior to the Dubrovka Theater incident, RSRSBCM has drawn its members and leaders from IIB and SPIR. In addition to their participation in the 23 October 2002 terrorist attack on the Dubrovka Theater, IIB, SPIR and RSRSBCM have been linked to other terrorist attacks, or have threatened terrorist attacks, against both civilian and government targets. 

Numerous ties link the leadership of these entities with Al-Qaida (QI.A.4.01), Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and the Taliban. In October 1999, emissaries of Basayev and Al-Khattab traveled to Usama bin Laden’s home base in the Afghan province of Kandahar, where Bin Laden agreed to provide substantial military assistance and financial aid, including by making arrangements to send to Chechnya several hundred fighters to fight against Russian troops and perpetrate acts of terrorism. Later that year, Bin Laden sent substantial amounts of money to Basayev, Movsar Barayev (leader of SPIR) and Al-Khattab, which was to be used exclusively for training gunmen, recruiting mercenaries and buying ammunition. Following the death of Al-Khattab, Abu al-Walid became a key leader of IIB with Basayev. Before his death in December 2002, Abu al-Walid’s deputy, Abu Tariq, who was also involved in channeling funds from foreign sources to Chechen extremists, had received several million dollars from international terrorist organizations, including Al-Qaida. 

Al-Khattab (while leader of IIB) publicly admitted that he spent the period between 1989 and 1994 in Afghanistan and that he had met Bin Laden. In March 1994, Basayev arrived in Afghanistan and toured fighter training camps in Khost province. He returned to Afghanistan with the first group of Chechen militants in May 1994. Basayev underwent training in Afghanistan and had close connections with Al-Qaida. Several hundred Chechens eventually trained in Al-Qaida camps in Afghanistan. With Al‑Qaida’s financial support, Al-Khattab also mobilized fighters from Ingushetia, Ossetia, Georgia and Azerbaijan to fight in Chechnya and Dagestan. By August 1995, substantial numbers of those fighting against Russian troops were “Afghan Arabs” (Arabs who had combat experience in Afghanistan against Soviet troops). The support was often reciprocated. Al-Qaida’s select “055 Brigade,” which fought against the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan, included a number of Chechens, many of whom were believed to be followers of Basayev, Barayev and Al-Khattab. In October 2001, Al-Khattab sent additional fighters to Afghanistan and promised to pay the volunteers’ families a substantial monthly stipend or a large lump-sum payment in the event of their death. In 2002, Al-Qaida was attempting to raise USD 2 million to support Abu al-Walid, who had succeeded Ibn al-Khattab in the leadership of IIB as the new Arab Chechen leader. 

Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Riyadus-Salikhin Reconnaissance and Sabotage Battalion of Chechen Martyrs (RSRSBCM) (QE.R.100.03), listed on 4 March 2003
Special Purpose Islamic Regiment (SPIR) (QE.S.101.03), listed on 4 March 2003

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001

Bilal bin Marwan (QI.B.9.01), listed on 25 January 2001

QE.R.100.03. RIYADUS-SALIKHIN RECONNAISSANCE AND SABOTAGE BATTALION OF CHECHEN MARTYRS (RSRSBCM)
Date on which the narrative summary became available on the Committee’s website: 7 September 2010

The Riyadus-Salikhin Reconnaissance and Sabotage Battalion of Chechen Martyrs (RSRSBCM) was listed on 4 March 2003 pursuant to paragraphs 1 and 2 of resolution 1390 (2002) as being associated with Al-Qaida, Usama bin Laden or the Taliban for “participating in the financing, planning, facilitating, preparing or perpetrating of acts or activities by, in conjunction with, under the name of, on behalf or in support of” Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01).

Additional information:
The Riyadus-Salikhin Reconnaissance and Sabotage Battalion of Chechen Martyrs (RSRSBCM) has been led by Shamil Salmanovich Basayev (deceased) and is linked to the Islamic International Brigade (IIB) (QE.I.99.03) and the Special Purpose Islamic Regiment (SPIR) (QE.S.101.03).

On the evening of 23 October 2002, members of RSRSBCM, IIB and SPIR operated jointly to seize over 800 hostages at Moscow’s Podshipnikov Zavod (Dubrovka) Theater. The attackers threatened that unless the Russian Government met their demands they would kill the hostages. They said that they were prepared to kill themselves and the hostages by blowing up the theater. One hundred and twenty-nine hostages died during the rescue mounted by the Government of the Russian Federation.

Basayev, the then leader of both RSRSBCM and IIB, subsequently publicly claimed responsibility for the attack on behalf of RSRSBCM. Basayev’s claim was supported by a videotape broadcast on Al Jazeera during the Dubrovka Theater incident showing one of the perpetrators identifying himself as a member of the “Sabotage and Military Surveillance Group of the Riyadh al-Salikhin Martyrs,” which is an alias for RSRSBCM.

A website affiliated with Chechen separatist groups, the Kavkaz Center, also identified one of the leaders of the hostage-takers in the Dubrovka Theater to be Movsar Barayev, the then-commander of SPIR and also a commander of RSRSBCM (Barayev died in the Dubrovka Theater incident). SPIR, which had been headed by Barayev and his uncle, the late Arbi Barayev, provided leadership and personnel to RSRSBCM for its takeover of the Dubrovka Theater. In fact, the Dubrovka Theater incident was originally attributed solely to SPIR since Barayev was the first publicly identified leader of the operation.

While its existence was unknown prior to the Dubrovka Theater incident, RSRSBCM has drawn its members and leaders from IIB and SPIR. In addition to their participation in the 23 October terrorist attack on the Dubrovka Theater, IIB, SPIR and RSRSBCM have been linked to other terrorist attacks, or have threatened terrorist attacks, against both civilian and government targets. 

On 20 November 2002, Basayev, as the leader of RSRSBCM, publicly warned the member states of the Organization for Security and Co-operation in Europe (OSCE), the Parliamentary Assembly of the Council of Europe (PACE), the European Union (EU) and the North Atlantic Treaty Organization (NATO) that they were now considered targets for future attacks. Basayev wrote that:

“We address you in order not to let you say in the future that we had not warned you about the inevitable outcome…Your stance is a hypocritical one based on a policy of double standards, and it is clearly a pro-Russian stance…All military, industrial, and strategic facilities on the Russian territory, to whoever they belong, are a legitimate military target for us.”

RSRSBCM and Basayev continued to be active after the Dubrovka Theater incident. On 27 December 2002, Chechen suicide bombers penetrated the well‑fortified Chechen Administration complex in downtown Grozny before detonating their explosives. The blast left over 80 people dead and over 150 wounded. Basayev claimed in an interview that not only was he involved in the blast but that he personally pressed the button of the remote control detonation device.

Numerous ties link the leadership of these entities with Al-Qaida (QI.A.4.01), Usama bin Laden (QI.B.8.01) and the Taliban. In October 1999, emissaries of Basayev and Al-Khattab, who was a leader of IIB, traveled to Usama bin Laden’s home base in the Afghan province of Kandahar, where Bin Laden agreed to provide substantial military assistance and financial aid, including by making arrangements to send to Chechnya several hundred fighters to fight against Russian troops and perpetrate acts of terrorism. Later that year, Bin Laden sent substantial amounts of money to Basayev, Barayev and Al-Khattab, which were to be used exclusively for training gunmen, recruiting mercenaries and buying ammunition. Before his death in December 2002, a deputy leader of IIB, Abu Tariq, who was also involved in channeling funds from foreign sources to Chechen extremists, had received several million dollars from international terrorist organizations, including Al-Qaida. 

Al-Khattab (while leader of IIB) publicly admitted that he spent the period between 1989 and 1994 in Afghanistan and that he had met Bin Laden. In March 1994, Basayev arrived in Afghanistan and toured fighter training camps in Khost province. He returned to Afghanistan with the first group of Chechen militants in May 1994. Basayev underwent training in Afghanistan and had close connections with Al-Qaida. Several hundred Chechens eventually trained in Al-Qaida camps in Afghanistan. With Al-Qaida’s financial support, Al-Khattab also mobilized fighters from Ingushetia, Ossetia, Georgia and Azerbaijan to fight in Chechnya and Dagestan. By August 1995, substantial numbers of those fighting against Russian troops were “Afghan Arabs” (Arabs who had combat experience in Afghanistan against Soviet troops), according to published reports. The support was often reciprocated. Al-Qaida’s select “055 Brigade,” which fought against the Northern Alliance in Afghanistan, included a number of Chechens, many of whom were believed to be followers of Basayev, Barayev and Al-Khattab. In October 2001, Al-Khattab sent additional fighters to Afghanistan and promised to pay the volunteers’ families a substantial monthly stipend or a large lump-sum payment in the event of their death. In 2002, Al-Qaida was attempting to raise USD 2 million to support Abu al-Walid, who had succeeded Ibn al-Khattab in the leadership of IIB as the new Arab Chechen leader. 

 Related listed individuals and entities:
Al-Qaida (QE.A.4.01), listed on 6 October 2001
Islamic International Brigade (IIB) (QE.I.99.03), listed on 4 March 2003
Special Purpose Islamic Regiment (SPIR) (QE.S.101.03), listed on 4 March 2003

Emarat Kavkaz (QE.E.131.11) listed on 29 July 2011

Usama Muhammed Awad bin Laden (QI.B.8.01), listed on 25 January 2001

Doku Khamatovich Umarov (QI.U.290.11), listed on 10 March 2011

